2006

William R. Rothstein v. Snowbird Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-2-2(3)(j). This appeal is subject to reassignment to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-2-2(4).

ISSUES PRESENTED

Plaintiff/Appellant William R. Rothstein purchased a season ski pass to Snowbird Ski Resort, which operates on public land. Salt Lake County ski resorts, including Defendant/Appellee Snowbird Corporation, require purchasers of season ski passes to sign a *Release and Indemnity Agreement* releasing the resorts for negligence which results in the injury to a patron. In order to obtain a seasons pass known as a *Seven Summits Pass* at Snowbird for the 2002-2003 season, Rothstein was required to sign two such *Releases*.¹ On February 3, 2003, Rothstein sustained serious, life-threatening injuries (12 broken ribs, a decimated right kidney, bruised heart, damaged liver and collapsed lung) when he skied into a massive manmade retaining wall (constructed of mine timber cribbing) that had been erected on one of Snowbird's ski runs. That retaining wall was snow covered and not marked.

¹ The first *Release* was to obtain a Snowbird season pass. The second *Release* was required to obtain the *Seven Summits Pass* that gave Rothstein additional skiing privileges such as not waiting in the lift lines. (*R. at 175-76.*)

Based upon the *Releases* that Rothstein had signed, the Honorable Anthony Quinn granted summary judgment in favor of Snowbird on Rothstein's negligence-based claims. The issues which Rothstein wishes to address on appeal are: Whether such *Releases* are enforceable or otherwise void and against public policy (1) as a result of *Utah's Inherent Risk of Skiing Act*, *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-27-52, *et seq.*, or (2) on the basis of being adhesion contracts?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

To determine whether the District Court properly granted summary judgment, this Court "review[s] the trial court's order granting summary judgment for correctness and accord[s] no difference to the court's legal conclusions. In addition, the Court views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc.*, 110 P.3d 678, 683 (Utah 2005); *Alta v. Holden*, 44 P.3d 781, 787 (Utah 2002); *Ward v. Intermountain Farmer's Ass'n*, 907 P.2d 264, 266 (Utah 1995). Enforceability of such *Releases* is a question of law. *Russ v. Woodside Homes*, 905 P.2d 901 (Utah App. 1985).

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE BELOW

The issue was preserved before the District Court in Snowbird's *Motion for Summary Judgment*. (*R.* at 170-249, 290-323, 383-399, 413 and 417-418.)

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

In *Russ v. Woodside Homes*, 905 P.2d 901 (Utah App. 1985), the Utah Court of Appeals discussed the enforceability of such *Releases*, but not in a recreational/adhesion contract context. Neither did the Utah Court of Appeals in *Russ* consider what effect the *Utah Inherent Risk of Skiing Act* and the public policy it espouses would have upon the enforceability of such *Releases*. Other states, however, with similar *Inherent Risk of Skiing* statutes, and which promote their ski industry in much the same fashion as Utah (*i.e.* Vermont and Colorado), have found such *Releases* to be void as against public policy.

Rothstein submits that the *Utah Inherent Risk of Skiing Statute* produces the same result. And that *Statute* reads as follows:

The Legislature finds that the sport of skiing is practiced by a large number of residents of Utah and attracts a large number of nonresidents, significantly contributing to the economy of this state. It further finds that few insurance carriers are willing to provide liability insurance protection to ski area operators and that the premiums charged by those carriers have risen sharply in recent years due to confusion as to whether a skier assumes the risks inherent in the sport or skiing. It is the purpose of this act, therefore, to clarify the law in relation to skiing injuries and the risks inherent in that sport, to establish as a matter of law that certain risks are inherent in that sport, and to provide that, as a matter of public policy, no person engaged in that sport shall recover from a ski operator for injuries resulting from those inherent risks.

§ 78-27-51.

As used in this act:

(1) “Inherent risks of skiing” means those dangers or conditions which are an integral part of the sports of skiing, snowboarding, and ski jumping, including, but not limited to: changing weather conditions, variation or steepness in terrain; snow or ice conditions; surface or subsurface conditions such as bare spots, forest growth, rocks, stumps, impact with lift towers and other skiers, and a skier’s failure to ski or jump within the skier’s own ability.

(2) “Injury” means any personal injury or property damage or loss.

(3) “Skier” means any person present in a ski area for the purpose of engaging in the sport of skiing, nordic, freestyle, or other types of ski jumping; and snowboarding.

(4) “Ski area” means any area designated by a ski area operator to be used for skiing, nordic, freestyle, or other type of ski jumping, and snowboarding.

(5) “Ski area operator” means those persons, and their agents, officers, employees or representatives, who operate a ski area.

§ 78-27-52.

Notwithstanding anything in Sections 78-27-37 through 78-27-43 to the contrary, no skier may make any claim against, or recover from, any ski area operator for injury resulting from any of the inherent risks of skiing.

§ 78-27-53.

Ski area operators shall post trail boards at one or more prominent locations within each ski area which shall include a list of the inherent risks of skiing, and the limitations on liability of ski area operators, as defined in this act.

§ 78-27-54.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case arose out of a serious skiing accident that occurred on February 3, 2003 when Rothstein struck a snow covered manmade retaining wall that was on one of Snowbird's ski runs. The retaining wall was unmarked. Rothstein was a season pass holder at Snowbird. Snowbird and all of the other Salt Lake County ski resorts require season pass holders to sign exculpatory agreements releasing the resorts for injuries incurred by skiers as a result of the resorts' negligence.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Rothstein sued Snowbird on two claims of negligence. (*R. at 109.*) Snowbird moved for summary judgment based upon the exculpatory agreements Rothstein had signed. (*R. at 172-194.*) On January 23, 2006, the District Court granted Snowbird's *Motion* dismissing Rothstein's negligence claims with prejudice. (*R. at 413, 417-418.*)² The District Court also granted Rothstein's *Motion to File an Amended Complaint* asserting a claim for gross negligence. (*R. at 413, 415.*) Rothstein thereafter filed his *Amended Complaint* (*R. at 419*) and a *Notice of Dismissal Without Prejudice* pursuant to *Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1.)* (*R. at 426.*) On February 16, 2006, Rothstein filed his *Notice of Appeal*. (*R. at 428.*)

² A copy of that *Order* is included in the *Addendum* to this Brief as Exhibit A.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Rothstein was seriously injured on February 3, 2003 while skiing the *Fluffy Bunny Run* at the Snowbird Ski Resort. (*R. at 50, 53 and 55*) Rothstein was injured when he collided with a retaining wall constructed of mine cribbing that had been erected across the ski run. (*R. at 59.*) The resulting impact left Rothstein with 12 broken ribs, the loss of a kidney, a bruised heart, damaged liver and a collapsed lung. (*R. at 53.*)

Rothstein testified that the retaining wall was not visible as he skied down upon it. (*R. at 59 and 60.*) More importantly, Rothstein's testimony is confirmed by the photograph which Snowbird personnel took of Rothstein and the accident scene immediately afterwards. (*R. at 57.*) In the record at page 46, is a photograph of ski patrolmen working on the injured Rothstein. On this photograph, Rothstein drew an arrow showing the approximate route he skied on the *Fluffy Bunny Run*. Taken above the accident scene and looking down on the ski run, the retaining wall is completely snow covered and not visible in this photograph. (*R. at 60.*)

In the record at page 47, is another photograph of the same ski patrolmen providing medical care to Rothstein. This photograph is taken from below the retaining wall and shows the retaining with which Rothstein collided. (*R. at 51-52.*) Copies of the foregoing photographs are included in the *Addendum* to this

Brief as Exhibits B and C, respectively. Other photographs of the retaining wall and a DVD of the massive structure taken during the summer following Rothstein's accident appear in the record at pages 202, 203 and 390-91. One of these photographs of the retaining wall is also included in the *Addendum* as Exhibit D.

Dean Cardinale is Director of Snow Safety at Snowbird. (*R. at 60.*) Following the accident, Cardinale visited Rothstein while Rothstein was being hospitalized for his injuries. In that visit, Cardinale told Rothstein that the retaining wall should have been "marked," that it was hazardous and, more importantly, that the accident was Snowbird's fault. (*R. at 42.*) Bradley Sachs is a friend of Rothstein's. Sachs is also an attorney. Sachs likewise spoke with Cardinale about Rothstein's accident and Cardinale told Sachs that the retaining wall should have been marked. (*R. at 57.*)

Rothstein is an expert skier. Consequently, during a deposition, Snowbird's counsel asked Rothstein what should have been done to make that *Fluffy Bunny Run* safe, Rothstein gave the following answer:

I think this area should have been completely fenced off until the snowpack was such that the object was completely covered and it was safe to ski over.

(*R. at 54.*)

Pete Schory is the Head of Ski Patrol. Schory said that the *Fluffy Bunny Run* had been open since 1971. (*R. at 51.*) Schory also said that the retaining wall was constructed by Snowbird in the summer of 1983. (*R. at 89.*)

In response to *Interrogatories*, Snowbird admitted that it has never sold, given or provided a season's pass to anyone without requiring the signing of a *Release Agreement*. (*R. at 393.*) In response to the same *Interrogatories*, Snowbird further admitted that the retaining wall was constructed on land owned by the United States Forest Service. (*Id.*) In its *Memorandum in Opposition to Rothstein's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment*, Snowbird admitted that all the other Salt Lake County Utah ski resorts (*i.e.* Alta, Brighton and Solitude) require similar *Release and Indemnity Agreements* from season pass holders. (*R. at 327.*)

In order to obtain a Seven Summits Pass, Rothstein was required to sign two *Release and Indemnity Agreements*. (*R. at 185 and 191.*) The first agreement provided as follows:

I am aware that "skiing, in its various forms" is a hazardous sport involving the risks of injuries and death. In consideration for my use of Alta or Snowbird ski areas, I hereby **waive all my claims**, including claims of personal injury, death and property damage against Alta or Snowbird, their agents and employees. **I agree to assume** all risks of personal injury, death and/or property damage associated with skiing, snowboarding and/or operating or resulting from the fault of Alta, Snowbird, their agents or employees. **I agree to hold harmless and indemnify** Alta and Snowbird, their agents and employees, from all my claims, including those caused by negligence or other fault of Alta or Snowbird, their agents or

employees. I agree that any litigation that I or my representatives initiate against Alta or Snowbird, their agents or employees, should be brought exclusively in Salt Lake County, Utah, and that the laws of the State of Utah shall govern.

(R. at 185) (emphasis in original).

The second *Release* contained the following language:

I hereby acknowledge that the use of the locker room, lounge, ski mountain and any privilege or service incident to my membership in Seven Summits Club is taken with knowledge of the risks of possible injury. I am aware that skiing and snowboarding in their various forms (“Skiing”) are hazardous sports involving the risks of injuries and death. In consideration of my use of the Snowbird Corporation (“Snowbird”) ski facility, I agree to assume and accept all risk of injury to myself and my guests, including the inherent risk of skiing, the risks associated with the operation of the ski area and the risk caused by the negligence of Snowbird, its employees or agents. I release and agree to indemnify Snowbird, all landowners of the ski area, and employees and agents from all claims for injuries or damages arising out of the operation of the ski area or my activities at Snowbird, whether such injuries or damages arise out of the risk of skiing or from any other cause, including the negligence of Snowbird, its employees and agents. I agree never to sue Snowbird, its employees or agents on any claim arising out of the operation of the ski area or my activities at Snowbird. This agreement is binding on my heirs and assigns.

(R. at 191) (emphasis in original).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is important to note that those States (such as Colorado and Vermont) which promote their ski industry consider skiing at ski resorts as providing an essential public service. It is also important to note that Colorado and Vermont,

like Utah both have an *Inherent Risk of Skiing Act*. In Colorado and Vermont, such *Releases* are not enforceable as a matter of law because they are ambiguous as to what hazards are included and they violate public policy. The Colorado and Vermont Courts noted that their respective *Inherent Risks of Skiing* Statutes determine both the scope of the ski resort's immunity from suit and its responsibility to patrons. Hence, *Releases* for future injuries violated that public policy and are, therefore, unenforceable. The same would be true for the *Releases* at issue in the instant case pursuant to the Utah *Inherent Risk of Skiing Act*.

**STATES WITH A STRONG PUBLIC INTEREST IN THE SKI INDUSTRY
CONSIDER SIMILAR RELEASE AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS TO
BE VOID ON THE BASIS OF PUBLIC POLICY.**

In making a decision as to the legality of the exculpatory agreements between Rothstein and Snowbird, this Court must consider (1) whether the agreements are clear and understandable in expressing the intentions of the parties and (2) whether the agreements violate public policy. The existence of either one of the foregoing elements is sufficient to make a *Release* for future negligence unenforceable or void and both exist in this instance.

A. Clear Expression of Intent. The United States District Court for the District of Utah has stated Utah law to be “exculpatory agreements are binding so long as they are clear and unequivocal in expressing the parties’ agreement to absolve the defendant of liability.” *Ghionis v. Deer Valley Resort Co., Ltd.*, 839

F.Supp.789, 793 (D. Utah 1993). However, whether these *Releases* included any injury from man-made structures was not clearly stated. In fact, they basically speak in terms of injuries or damages arising from “risk of skiing,” the risk associated with the operation of a ski area, and the general “risk caused by the negligence of Snowbird.” The *Releases* say nothing about the risk posed by a snow-covered man-made retaining wall constructed on a ski run.

The United States District Court for Utah has also held that “assumption of risk requires a voluntary assumption of a known danger.” *Ghionis*, 839 F.Supp. 789 at 784 (citing *Mikkelson v. Haslam*, 764 P.2d 1384, 1388 (Utah App. 1980)). The wall that Rothstein hit was not a known danger connected with skiing, nor does the general language of these *Releases* encompass that danger. Rothstein, therefore, could not assume the risk of an unknown danger when the possibility of such a risk was not clearly stated in the *Releases*.

B. The Releases Violate Public Policy. The Utah Supreme Court has not adopted a standard for determining whether there is a strong public interest in the provision of ski services. But there is a standard that has been adopted by other states in evaluating public interest. See *Tunkl v. Regents of University of California*, 383 P.2d 441, 444 (Ca. 1963). *Tunkl* holds that a *Release* for future injury is invalid if it shows some or all of the following:

- [1] It concerns a business of a type generally thought suitable for public regulation.
- [2] The parties seeking exculpation is forming a service of great importance to the public, which is often a matter of practical necessity for some members of the public.
- [3] The party hold itself out as willing to perform this service for any member of the public who seeks it, or at least for any member coming within certain established standards.
- [4] As a result of the essential nature of the service, and the economic setting of the transaction, the party invoking exculpation possesses a decisive advantage of bargaining strength against any member of the public who seeks [the party's] service.
- [5] In exercising its superior bargaining power, the party confronts the public with a standardized adhesion contract of exculpation and makes no provision whereby the purchaser may pay additional reasonable fees and obtain protection against negligence.
- [6] Finally, a result of the transaction, the personal property of the purchaser is placed under the control of the seller subject to the risk of carelessness by the seller [the seller's agents].

Id. at 445-446 (footnotes omitted). Rothstein submits that all six of the foregoing elements to invalidate the *Releases* exist in this instance.

To begin with, the ski industry is suitable for public regulation as is evidence by the *Inherent Risk of Skiing Act* which specifically provides:

The Legislature finds that the sport of skiing is practiced by a large number of residents of Utah and attracts a large number of nonresidents, significantly contributing to the economy of the state.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-51. That finding would meet the first three elements of the *Tunkl* test.

The fourth and fifth elements of the *Tunkl* test are clearly met by the fact that all local ski areas apparently impose a similar liability provision as a condition for season's passes. Finally, with respect to the unmarked snow-covered retaining wall, Rothstein and others were clearly subject to Snowbird's control.

Many states have enacted a statute similar to Utah's *Inherent Risk of Skiing Act*. The Vermont equivalent of Utah's *Inherent Risk of Skiing Act* provides as follows:

Notwithstanding the provisions of section 1036 of this title, a person who takes part in any sport accepts as a matter of law the dangers that inhere therein insofar as they are obvious and necessary.

12 V.S.A §1037 (1978). Based upon that *Act*, the Supreme Court of Vermont has held that "exculpatory agreements which defendants require skiers to sign, releasing defendants from all liability resulting from negligence, are void as contrary to public policy." *Dalury v. S-K-I, Ltd.*, 670 A.2d 795, 796 (Vt. 1995).

In *Dalury*, the defendant operated a ski resort where plaintiff Dalury was seriously injured when he collided with a metal pole that formed part of the control maze for a ski lift line. Before the ski season started, Dalury purchased a

season pass and signed a form releasing the ski area from all liability. The Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of defendants, holding that the exculpatory agreements, which released defendants from all liability, were valid. The Supreme Court of Vermont explicitly overruled the Superior Court, stating that the exculpatory agreements were void as contrary to public policy.

In reaching this conclusion, the Supreme Court of Vermont rejected defendants' argument that ski resorts do not provide an essential public service. The Court reasoned, "the defendants' area is a facility open to the public. They advertise and invite skiers and nonskiers of every level of skiing ability to their premises for the price of a ticket." *Id.* at 799. "Each ticket sale may be, for some purposes, a purely private transaction. But when a substantial number of such sales take place as a result of the seller's general invitation to the public to utilize the facilities and services in question, a legitimate public interest arises." *Id.* The Court held that the defendant ski resort was in a better position to guard and insure against risks. The Court stated that

[t]he policy rationale is to place responsibility for maintenance of the land on those who own or control it, with the ultimate goal of keeping accidents to the minimum level possible. Defendants, not recreational skiers, have the expertise and opportunity to foresee and control hazards, and to guard against the negligence of their agents and employees. They alone can properly maintain and inspect their premises, and train their employees in risk management. They alone can insure against risks and effectively spread the cost of insurance among their thousands of customers. Skiers,

on the other hand, are not in a position to discover and correct risks of harm, and they cannot insure against the ski area's negligence.

Id.

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