2006

William R. Rothstein, an individual v. Snowbird Corporation, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rothstein voluntarily signed two Release Agreements for the 2002-2003 ski season that expressly released Snowbird from liability for injuries resulting from Snowbird's negligence. (R. at 185, 189-191). Rothstein signed these Releases 2 ½ months *prior* to injuring himself on February 3, 2003, and, thus, had ample time to contemplate whether to sign the Releases or not. (R. at 185, 189-191).

Unlike hospital care, public transportation or utilities, recreational skiing does not implicate matters of "great public importance" or "practical necessity" and is not an "essential service". Indeed, the great majority of jurisdictions enforce pre-injury exculpatory agreements in the recreational activities context. Additionally, Utah's Inherent Risk of Skiing Act does not evidence a legislative intent to prohibit exculpatory agreements. When Utah's legislature seeks to bar exculpatory or other agreements, it states so expressly. Utah's legislature chose not to do so in Utah's Inherent Risk Act. Instead, Utah's legislature focused

¹ In everything Rothstein files with this Court, including his Appellant's Brief, he recounts his purported injuries. The nature of Rothstein's injuries are *irrelevant* here because the Release Agreements clearly and unequivocally released Snowbird from liability for its own negligence. In addition, Rothstein also expressly assumed all risks of injury, including injuries caused by Snowbird's purported negligence. Regardless, this Court should be aware that Rothstein undisputedly returned to the slopes and skied 36 days the following season at Snowbird alone - a fact that Rothstein does not disclose. (R. at 193-194).

on protecting Utah's ski resorts from sharply rising insurance premiums and minimal insurance coverage options - a public policy consistent with enforcing exculpatory agreements. Thus, Judge Quinn's decision granting Snowbird's Summary Judgment and dismissing *with* prejudice Rothstein's *ordinary* negligence claims should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SNOWBIRD RELEASE AGREEMENTS ROTHSTEIN VOLUNTARILY SIGNED ARE CLEAR, UNEQUIVOCAL AND ENFORCEABLE.

Rothstein overstates Utah's legal requirement concerning exculpatory agreement language relating to release of claims and assumption of risks. In doing so, Rothstein ignores Utah case law directly addressing these issues.

A. Utah Only Requires That Exculpatory Agreements Clearly and Unequivocally Express a General Intent to Release Claims of Negligence.

In Utah, exculpatory agreements need not enumerate or forecast the precise mechanism of injury to be enforceable. Instead, Utah only requires, as do most states, that an exculpatory agreement clearly and unequivocally express an intent to release claims of negligence.

In Russ v. Woodside Homes, Inc., 905 P.2d 901, 903-904 (Utah App. 1995), the Utah Court of Appeals enforced a hold harmless agreement against the heirs of a woman who fell into a hole in her driveway during construction. The Agreement in no way referred to the specific mechanism of injury (i.e. falling into a hole in the driveway) and, in fact, did not even refer to waiving claims of negligence. Id. Yet, the Utah Court of Appeals found

the Agreement to be “clear and unequivocal” in any event. *Id.* at 906. Indeed, as the Utah Supreme Court held in Freund v. Utah Power & Light Co., 793 P.2d 362, 371-72 (Utah 1990) (*opinion by Justice Howe*), “[a] hold harmless provision is enforceable when ‘the broad sweep of the language employed by the parties clearly covers those instances in which [a party] may be negligent . . . language releasing an indemnitee from ‘**any claims for damages to property and injury or death**’ constituted a sufficiently clear and unequivocal expression to release for alleged negligence”. (emphasis added). *See also, e.g., Milligan v. Big Valley Corp. d/b/a Grand Targhee Ski Resort*, 754 P.2d 1063 (Wyo. 1988) (“It is difficult to envision any other intent of the parties than to release [the resort] from liability for negligence . . . [if] this were not the intent, there would be little purpose in the release at all” - skier’s claims dismissed based on pre-injury Release); Street v. Darwin Ranch, 75 F. Supp.2d 1296, 1302 (D. Wyo. 1999) (rejecting plaintiff’s argument that because the “specific hazard was not identified” the Release was invalid - pre-injury Release enforced in horseback trail outfitter case); Lahey v. Covington, 964 F. Supp. 1440 (D. Colo. 1996) *quoting from Heil Valley Ranch, Inc. v. Simkin*, 784 P.2d 781, 785 (Colo. 1989) (“Colorado law does not require that an exculpatory agreement describe in detail **each specific risk** that the signor may encounter” - white-water rafting injury claims dismissed based on pre-injury Release). (emphasis added).

Here, the two Snowbird Release Agreements clearly and unequivocally release claims of negligence. (R. at 185, 191). Indeed, clearer than the release language enforced in Russ and Freund above, the Snowbird Releases conspicuously contain the word “negligence”,

expressly releasing such claims. *See* Alta-Snowbird Release Agreement, Ex. ‘A’ to Addendum (“I agree to hold **harmless and indemnify** Alta and Snowbird, their agents and employees from all of my claims, including those caused by the negligence or other fault of Alta or Snowbird, their agents and employees”) (emphasis in original) and Seven Summits Club Release, Ex. ‘A’ to Addendum (“I release and agree to indemnify Snowbird . . . from all claims for injury or damage arising out of the operation of the ski area or my activities at Snowbird, whether such injury or damage arises from the risks of skiing or from any other cause including the negligence of Snowbird, its employees and agents”). (emphasis in original). Accordingly, Snowbird’s Release Agreements actually exceed Utah’s legal requirements and are, thus, “clear and unequivocal”.

B. Although Not Essential to Enforcement of the Release Agreements, Rothstein Also Expressly Assumed All Risk of Injury.

Rothstein also mistakenly asserts that in order to assume a risk contractually, it must be a voluntary assumption of a known specific risk - in this case, mine timber cribbing just below a flagged, permanent rope-line, necessary to structurally support a cat track. In doing so, Rothstein confuses *express* contractual assumption of risk with the *primary* and/or *secondary* assumption of risk doctrines.

In Jacobsen Construction Co., Inc. et al. v. Structo-Lite Engineering, Inc., 619 P.2d 306, 309-10 (Utah 1980), the Utah Supreme Court made clear that the *express* form of assumption of risk is very different from all other forms. This Court stated in pertinent part:

For purposes of this analysis, assumption of risk is often divided into three categories. Those courts which attempt to deal with the various concepts subsumed under the one label refrain from considering one form, that is, the ‘express’ form of assumption of risk. An express assumption of risk involves a

contractual provision in which a party expressly contracts not to sue for injury or loss which may thereafter be occasioned by the acts of another. We not only follow suit by refraining to include this form of assumption of risk in our discussion, but furthermore fail to see a necessity for including this form within assumption of risk terminology. As stated in James, *Assumption of Risk*, 61 *Yale L.J.* 141 (1952), **the field of contract law is more than adequate to deal with this bar to recovery.** We are thus left with the primary and secondary forms of assumption of risk.

Id. (Emphasis added).

Given the fact Utah “contract law” allows for the broad release of claims in exculpatory agreements without referring to the exact mechanism of injury, there is no reason why *express* contractual assumption of risk provisions need any more specificity. *See also Coates v. Newhall Land & Farming, Inc.*, 236 Cal. Rptr. 181, 184-85 (Cal. App. 2nd Dist. 1987) (“**[K]nowledge of a particular risk is unnecessary where there is an express agreement to assume all risk; by express agreement a ‘plaintiff may undertake to assume all of the risks of a particular . . . situation, *whether they are known or unknown to him.*’** (Rest. 2d Torts, § 496D, com. a, italics added; Prosser & Keaton, Torts, *supra*, § 68, p. 482.) . . . even if [plaintiff] was visiting the [dirt bike] park for the first time, as appellants allege, **‘neither knowledge of the danger involved, nor appreciation of the magnitude of the risk, requires the clairvoyance to foresee the exact accident and injury which in fact occurred’.** (Bold emphasis added). (Italics in original).

Here, Rothstein voluntarily signed two separate Release Agreements for the 2002-2003 season, expressly assuming all risks. (R. at 185, 191). *See Alta-Snowbird Release Agreement*, Ex. ‘A’ to Addendum (“**I agree to assume all risks of personal injury, death or property damage associated with skiing . . . or resulting from the fault of Alta or**

Snowbird”) (emphasis in original) and Seven Summits Club Release Agreement, Ex. ‘A’ to Addendum (“I agree to assume and accept all risks of injury to myself, including the inherent risks of skiing, the risks associated with the operation of the ski area and risks caused by the negligence of Snowbird”) (emphasis in original). Accordingly, Rothstein cannot circumvent his contractual commitments by asserting that Snowbird did not specifically disclose in advance that he could be injured by skiing into mine timber cribbings or similar structures.

II. WHETHER APPLYING *TUNKL* OR ANY OTHER “PUBLIC POLICY” TEST, THE GREAT MAJORITY OF JURISDICTIONS ENFORCE EXCULPATORY AGREEMENTS INVOLVING RECREATIONAL PROVIDERS.

Rothstein erroneously asserts that the two Release Agreements he signed voluntarily are unenforceable based on a six part public policy test established in Tunkl v. Regents of the University of California, 383 P.2d 441 (Calif. 1963). This six part test, not adopted in Utah², examines whether a Release Agreement exhibits the following characteristics:

[1] It concerns a business of a type generally thought suitable for public regulation. [2] The party seeking exculpation is engaged in performing a

² In Hawkins v. Peart d/b/a Navajo Trails, 37 P.3d 1062, 1065 (Utah 2001) (*opinion by Justice Durrant*), the Utah Supreme Court noted that it has not yet adopted any specific standard for determining the validity of a pre-injury exculpatory agreement. This Court instead relied on extensive public policy related *exclusively to minor children* in evaluating a pre-injury Release Agreement intended to waive liability for injuries sustained by a minor child on a horseback trail excursion. This Court stated: “*Tunkl and Jones [v. Dressel, 623 P.2d 370, 376 (Colo. 1981)] set forth standards for determining whether the public interest in the activity at issue warrants an exception to the general rule allowing releases. However, we need not reach the question of whether to adopt the Tunkl or Jones standard, or any other standard generally relating to the public interest exception, because, in deciding the case before us, we rely on the public policy exception specifically relating to releases of a minor’s claims*”. *Id.* at 1065. (emphasis added).

service of great importance to the public, which is often a matter of practical necessity for some members of the public. [3] The party holds [itself] out as willing to perform this service for any member of the public who seeks it, or at least for any member coming within certain established standards. [4] As a result of the essential nature of the service, in the economic setting of the transaction, the party invoking exculpation possesses a decisive advantage of bargaining strength against any member of the public who seeks [its] services. [5] In exercising a superior bargaining power the party confronts the public with a standardized adhesion contract of exculpation, and makes no provision whereby a purchaser may pay additional reasonable fees and obtain protection against negligence. [6] Finally, as a result of the transaction, the person or property of the purchaser is placed under the control of the seller, subject to the risk of carelessness by the seller or [its] agents. *Id.* at 445-46.

What Rothstein fails to recognize, however, is that the great majority of jurisdictions (whether applying Tunkl or not) enforce pre-injury exculpatory agreements in the recreational sports context.³ See Seigneur v. National Fitness Institute, Inc., 752 A.2d 631, 641 (Md. Spec. Ct. App. 2000) (“[C]ourts from other jurisdictions **almost universally** have held that contracts relating to recreational activities do not fall within any of the categories that implicate public interest concerns”). (emphasis added); Henderson v. Quest Expeditions, 174 S.W.3d 730, 734 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2005) (“**The majority view from sister states** is that an exculpatory provision which specifically and expressly releases a defendant from its own negligence **will be upheld, without regard to whether the injury sustained is one typically thought to be ‘inherent in the sport’**” - white-water rafting pre-injury Release enforced) (emphasis added).

³ In Tunkl, the exculpatory agreement at issue sought to release a hospital from liability for negligent hospital care services rendered and had nothing at all to do with recreational sporting activities. Tunkl, 383 P.2d at 441. The great majority of jurisdictions have drawn a strong and clear distinction between essential services such as hospital care, public transportation and utilities *and* purely voluntary, non-essential recreational activities such as skiing. See e.g. Hulsey v. Elsinore Parachute Center, 168 Cal. App. 3d 333, 342 (Cal. App. 4th Dist. 1985) at p.11 herein.

Indeed, even in California (where the Tunkl standard *originated*), courts consistently have refused to invalidate pre-injury exculpatory agreements in the recreational sports context. *See* Platzer v. Mammoth Mountain Ski Area, 128 Cal. Rptr. 885, 888-889 (Cal. Ct. App. 3rd Dst. 2002) (“[C]ourts **routinely** exclude recreational sports from the purview of *Tunkl*, concluding that such activities are not of great public importance or practical necessity” - ordinary negligence claims dismissed on “summary adjudication” based on Release Agreement where individual fell from a chairlift during a ski lesson). (emphasis added); Hulsey v. Elsinore Parachute Center, 168 Cal. App. 3d 333, 342 (Cal. App. 4th Dist. 1985) (“When referring to “essential services” the court in *Tunkl* clearly had in mind medical, legal, housing, transportation or similar services which must *necessarily* be utilized by the general public. Purely recreational activities such as sport parachuting can hardly be considered “essential”. In sum, measuring the transaction here against the *Tunkl* factors, we can see no logical reason for extending the “public interest” limitation on the freedom of contract to the exculpatory agreement here relied on by defendant”). (Italics in original). (Bold emphasis added); *and* Coates v. Newhall, 236 Cal. Rptr. 181, 185 (Cal. App. 2nd Dst. 1987) (““[B]y no means other than a most strained construction could the exculpatory instrument in issue involve the public interest”” - pre-injury Release enforced, dismissing wrongful death dirt bike accident case). (emphasis added).

Most jurisdictions, in fact, enforce exculpatory agreements after simply determining that the subject activity is *not* a “matter of great public importance”, “practical necessity”, or an “essential service”. In Chauvlier v. Booth Creek Ski Holdings, Inc., 35 P.3d 383, 388 (Wash. Ct. App. 2001), the Court enforced a pre-injury exculpatory agreement against a

recreational skier who, similar to Rothstein's allegations, was injured when he skied into "man-made structures" purportedly not visible from above. The Chauvlier Court stated:

'[A] survey of cases assessing exculpatory clauses reveals that the common determinative factor for Washington courts has been the services' or activities' importance to the public . . . Despite its recreational appeal, skiing is not a 'service of great importance to the public,' much less a service of 'practical necessity.' Rather, skiing is a private and nonessential activity [and] cannot be said to be 'vital for the benefit of mankind'.

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